WESTERN VIRGINIA
REGIONAL INDUSTRIAL FACILITY AUTHORITY

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MEETING
of the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility Authority
Friday, July 18, 2025 at 10:00 a.m.

Roanoke Regional Partnership (Conference Room)
111 Franklin Road SE Ste. 333, Roanoke, VA 24011

Note: The July 18" meeting will be a Joint Meeting with the WVRIFA Participation Committee (both
meetings will be held in conjunction with each other on the same date, time and location.)

AGENDA
1. Welcome, Call t0 OFAEN ........coooveeeieeeeeee e Chair Larrowe
D o ]| IO 1| SRS Sherry Dean
3. Action Requested: Approval of Consent Agenda ltems............cc.cocooviiiiiiin. Chair Larrowe

A. Approval of Agenda
B. April 18, 2025 WVRIFA Board Meeting Minutes, pp. 2 — 4
C. Audit Engagement Letter, pp. 5 — 11

4. PUblic COMMENT PEIAOA ...ttt eeaeens Chair Larrowe

The WVRIFA Board will allow a 30-minute public comment period in which a citizen
may sign-up for up to three (3) minutes of speaking time.

5. Action Requested: Consideration of Contract for Drainage ...........cccooeeuiiiiiinnnnnnn. John Hull
Improvement Project, pp. 12 - 36

B. OtNBI BUSINESS....coieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt e et e e Chair Larrowe

7.  Adjournment

ADMINISTERED BY:
Roanoke Valley-Alleghany Regional Commission
313 Luck Avenue, SW, Roanoke, VA 24016
inffo@wvrifa.org ¥ www.wvrifa.org


mailto:info@wvrifa.org

WESTERN VIRGINIA
REGIONAL INDUSTRIAL FACILITY AUTHORITY

MINUTES

The April meeting of the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility Authority (WVRIFA) Board
was held on Friday, April 18, 2025 at 10:00 a.m. at the Roanoke Regional Partnership
(Conference Room), 111 Franklin Road SE Ste.333, Roanoke VA.

Note: The April 18" meeting of the WVRIFA Board and WVRIFA Participation Committee were
held simultaneously (jointly).

1.

CALL MEETING TO ORDER

Chair Larrowe called the WVRIFA Board of Directors’ Meeting to order at 10:00 a.m.

ROLL CALL

Chair Larrowe asked Virginia Mullen to call the roll of the WVRIFA Board. Ms. Mullen
reported that a quorum was present.

Board Members Present: Gary Larrowe, Botetourt County; Ken McFadyen, Botetourt
County; Chistopher Whitlow, Franklin County; Megan Baker, Roanoke County; Doug
Blount, Roanoke County; Marc Nelson, City of Roanoke; Chris Dorsey, City of Salem;
Tommy Miller, City of Salem; Richard “Pete” Peters, Town of Vinton; Cody Sexton, Town
of Vinton.

Staff Present: John Hull, WVRIFA Director; Bryce Hunter, WVRIFA Counsel; Sherry Dean
and Virginia Mullen, WVRIFA Finance/Administrative Staff.

ACTION REQUESTED: APROVAL OF THE CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS

The following consent agenda items were distributed earlier: (A) April 18, 2025 WVRIFA
Board Agenda, (B) March 21, 2025 WVRIFA Board Minutes, (C) March 31, 2025 WVRIFA
Special Meeting Minutes, and (D) Financial Reports Ending March 31, 2025.

Motion: by Cody Sexton to approve consent agenda items (A), (B), (C), and (D). The
motion was seconded by Megan Baker.

ADMINISTERED BY:

Roanoke Valley-Alleghany Regional Commission
313 Luck Avenue, SW, Roanoke, VA 24016

info@wvrifa.org / www.wvrifa.org


mailto:info@wvrifa.org

Page 2 of 3

WVRIFA Board Action: Motion carried unanimously.

4, PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD

There were no comments.

5. ACCEPTANCE OF FY25 WOODHAVEN BUDGET REVISION, FY25 OPERATING
BUDGET REVISION, FY26 WOODHAVEN BUDGET, FY26 OPERATING BUDGET &
FY26 BOND PAYMENT BUDGET

Ms. Sherry Dean presented the previously distributed budgets with the agenda packet,
including the FY25 Woodhaven Budget Revision, FY25 Operating Budget Revision, FY26
Woodhaven Budget, FY26 Bond Payments Budget, and FY26 Operating Budget. Ms.
Dean noted that the primary change from last year’s budgets was the shift of most Virginia
Business Ready Sites Program (VBRSP) grant work from FY25 to FY26. Other elements
of the budget remained standard.

Motion: by Megan Baker to approve FY25 Woodhaven Budget Revision, FY25 Operating
Budget Revision, FY26 Woodhaven Budget, FY26 Bond Payments Budget, and FY26
Operating Budget, as presented. The motion was seconded by Marc Nelson.

WVRIFA Board Action: Motion carried unanimously.

6. ACCEPTANCE OF FY25 AUDIT PROPOSAL

Ms. Sherry Dean reported that the audit RFP was posted on the Regional Commission
and Roanoke Regional Partnership websites for 30 days and sent directly to five CPA
firms. Only one proposal was received from Robinson, Farmer, Cox Associates, the firm
that has conducted past audits. The board was informed that the contract includes a
renewal option for up to five years subject to annual engagement letters.

Motion: by Cody Sexton to accept the FY25 Audit Proposal, as presented. The motion
was seconded by Marc Nelson.

WVRIFA Board Action: Motion carried unanimously.

7. UPDATE ON AGREEMENT WITH WESTERN VIRGINIA WATER AUTHORITY

Mr. John Hull provided an update on the agreement with Western Virginia Water Authority.
The only substantive change from prior drafts was confirmation of a five-year timeline to
complete the interconnection. This version had been shared with all partners and
executed on the Authority’s side. No action was required on this item.

ADMINISTERED BY:
Roanoke Valley-Alleghany Regional Commission
313 Luck Avenue, SW, Roanoke, VA 24016

info@wvrifa.org / www.wvrifa.org


mailto:info@wvrifa.org

Page 3 of 3

8. UPDATE ON WOODHAVEN DRAINAGE IMPROVEMENT PROJECT

Mr. John Hull provided an update on the Woodhaven Drainage Improvement Project. The
Virginia Business Ready Sites grant program is funding stream and wetland mitigation
required for full grading of the site. The $540,000 in funding budgeted for FY26 will cover
construction costs to fill stream channels and install drainage improvements, including an
underdrain and redirection of surface water toward the lower stream channel, which will
remain. A full engineering submission and review is forthcoming. Balzer & Associates is
the civil engineer on the project. The goal is to bid the project in May and finish
construction by fall 2025, ahead of permit and funding expirations in early 2026. The
estimated 45—60 day construction timeline is expected to stay within budget.

9. OTHER BUSINESS

No other business was discussed.

The Chair extended Easter greetings to all.

10. ADJOURNMENT OF THE WVRIFA BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ MEETING

The WVRIFA Board of Directors’ meeting adjourned at 10:17 a.m.

Richard “Pete” Peters, Secretary Attest
WVRIFA Board of Directors

ADMINISTERED BY:
Roanoke Valley-Alleghany Regional Commission
313 Luck Avenue, SW, Roanoke, VA 24016

info@wvrifa.org / www.wvrifa.org


mailto:info@wvrifa.org

{ RoBINsON, FARMER, Cox AssociaTes, PLLC

CPAs | S — Certified Public Accountants

May 22, 2025

Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility Authority
Attn: Board Members and
Sherry Dean, Finance Director
P.O. Box 2569
Roanoke Virginia 24010-2569

Dear Board Members and Mrs. Dean:

We are pleased to confirm our understanding of the services we are to provide the Western Virginia
Regional Industrial Facility Authority for the year ended June 30, 2025.

Audit Scope and Objectives

We will audit the financial statements of the business-type activities and the disclosures, which
collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility
Authority as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025. Accounting standards generally accepted in the
United States of America (GAAP) provide for certain required supplementary information (RSI), such as
management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), to supplement the Western Virginia Regional Industrial
Facility Authority’s basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. As part of our engagement, we will apply certain limited
procedures to the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility Authority’s RSI in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS). These limited procedures will
consist of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We will
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not
provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. The
following RSI is required by GAAP and will be subjected to certain limited procedures, but will not be
audited:

1) Management’s Discussion and Analysis, if prepared

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion about whether your financial statements are fairly presented, in all material respects,
in conformity with GAAP; and report on the fairness of the supplementary information referred to in the
second paragraph when considered in relation to the financial statements as a whole. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements, including omissions, can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they
would influence the judgment of a reasonable user made based on the financial statements.

BLACKSBURG OFFICE: CONTACT:
108 South Park Drive Diana Epperly, CPA
Blacksburg, Virginia 24060 Director
(540) 552-7322 depperly@rfca.com



The objectives also include reporting on internal control over financial reporting and compliance with
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and award agreements, noncompliance with which could have a
material effect on the financial statements in accordance with Government Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

We will conduct our audit in accordance with GAAS, the standards for financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and the
Specifications for Audits of Authorities, Boards and Commissions issued by the Auditor of Public Accounts
of the Commonwealth of Virginia and will include tests of the accounting records of the Western Virginia
Regional Industrial Facility Authority and other procedures we consider necessary to enable us to express
such opinions. As part of an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We will evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management. We will also evaluate the overall presentation of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and determine whether the financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. We will plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether from (1) errors, (2) fraudulent financial reporting, (3) misappropriation
of assets, or (4) violations of laws or governmental regulations that are attributable to the government or
to acts by management or employees acting on behalf of the government. Because the determination of
waste and abuse is subjective, Government Auditing Standards do not expect auditors to perform specific
procedures to detect waste or abuse in financial audits nor do they expect auditors to provide reasonable
assurance of detecting waste or abuse.

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, combined with the inherent limitations of internal control,
and because we will not perform a detailed examination of all transactions, there is an unavoidable risk
that some material misstatements may not be detected by us, even though the audit is properly planned
and performed in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards. In addition, an audit is not
designed to detect immaterial misstatements or violations of laws or governmental regulations that do
not have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, we will inform the
appropriate level of management of any material errors, fraudulent financial reporting, or
misappropriation of assets that comes to our attention. We will also inform the appropriate level of
management of any violations of laws or governmental regulations that come to our attention, unless
clearly inconsequential. Our responsibility as auditors is limited to the period covered by our audit and
does not extend to any later periods for which we are not engaged as auditors.

In connection with this engagement, we may communicate with you or others via email transmission and
send data over the internet or allow access to data through third-party vendors’ secured portals or clouds.
As emails can be intercepted and read, disclosed, or otherwise used or communicated by an unintended
third party, or may not be delivered to each of the parties to whom they are directed and only to such
parties, we cannot guarantee or warrant that emails from us will be properly delivered and read only by
the addressee. Therefore, we specifically disclaim and waive any liability or responsibility whatsoever for
interception or unintentional disclosure of emails or data transmitted by us in connection with the
performance of this engagement. In that regard, you agree that we shall have no liability for any loss or
damage to any person or entity resulting from the use of email transmissions or electronic data sharing,
including any consequential, incidental, direct, indirect, or special damages, such as loss of revenues or
anticipated profits, or disclosure or communication of confidential or proprietary information.

We will also conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there are conditions or events,
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the government’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a reasonable period of time.



Our procedures will include tests of documentary evidence supporting the transactions recorded in the
accounts, tests of the physical existence of inventories, and direct confirmation of receivables and
certain assets and liabilities by correspondence with selected customers, creditors, and financial
institutions. We will also request written representations from your attorneys as part of the engagement.

We have identified the following significant risk(s) of material misstatement as part of our audit planning:

e According to GAAS, significant risks include management override of controls, and GAAS presumes
that revenue recognition is a significant risk. Accordingly, we have considered these as significant
risks.

e Risk related to identifying all adjusting entries necessary to present the financial statements in
accordance with current reporting standards.

e It is noted that the identified risks are based on the prior period audit and audit planning has not been
concluded for the current year; therefore, modifications to significant risks may be necessary.

Our audit of financial statements does not relieve you of your responsibilities.
Audit Procedures—Internal Control

We will obtain an understanding of the government and its environment, including the system of internal
control, sufficient to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and to design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks and
obtain evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. Tests of controls
may be performed to test the effectiveness of certain controls that we consider relevant to preventing
and detecting errors and fraud that are material to the financial statements and to preventing and
detecting misstatements resulting from illegal acts and other noncompliance matters that have a direct
and material effect on the financial statements. Our tests, if performed, will be less in scope than would
be necessary to render an opinion on internal control and, accordingly, no opinion will be expressed in our
report on internal control issued pursuant to Government Auditing Standards. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentation, or the override of internal control. An
audit is not designed to provide assurance on internal control or to identify significant deficiencies or
material weaknesses. Accordingly, we will express no such opinion. However, during the audit, we will
communicate to management and those charged with governance internal control related matters that
are required to be communicated under AICPA professional standards and Government Auditing Standards.

Audit Procedures—Compliance

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, we will perform tests of the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility Authority’s
compliance with the provisions of applicable laws, regulations, contracts, agreements, and grants.
However, the objective of our audit will not be to provide an opinion on overall compliance and we will
not express such an opinion in our report on compliance issued pursuant to Government Auditing
Standards.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Our audit will be conducted on the basis that you acknowledge and understand your responsibility for
designing, implementing, establishing, and maintaining effective internal controls relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and for evaluating and monitoring ongoing activities to help ensure that
appropriate goals and objectives are met; following laws and regulations; and ensuring that management
and financial information is reliable and properly reported. Management is also responsible for
implementing systems designed to achieve compliance with applicable laws, regulations, contracts, and



grant agreements. You are also responsible for the selection and application of accounting principles, for
the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and all accompanying information in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America with the
oversight of those charged with governance and for compliance with applicable laws and regulations and
the provisions of contracts and grant agreements.

Management is responsible for making drafts of financial statements, all financial records, and related
information available to us; for the accuracy and completeness of that information (including information
from outside of the general and subsidiary ledgers); and for the evaluation of whether there are any
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the government’s
ability to continue as a going concern for the 12 months after the financial statements date or shortly
thereafter (for example, within an additional three months if currently known). You are also responsible
for providing us with (1) access to all information of which you are aware that is relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, such as records, documentation,
identification of all related parties and all related-party relationships and transactions, and other matters;
(2) additional information that we may request for the purpose of the audit; and (3) unrestricted access
to persons within the government from whom we determine it necessary to obtain audit evidence. At the
conclusion of our audit, we will require certain written representations from you about your
responsibilities for the financial statements; compliance with laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements; and other responsibilities required by GAAS and Government Auditing Standards.

Your responsibilities include adjusting the financial statements to correct material misstatements and for
confirming to us in the written representation letter that the effects of any uncorrected misstatements
aggregated by us during the current engagement and pertaining to the latest period presented are
immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements of each opinion unit taken
as a whole.

You are responsible for the design and implementation of programs and controls to prevent and detect
fraud, and for informing us about all known or suspected fraud affecting the government involving (1)
management, (2) employees who have significant roles in internal control, and (3) others where the fraud
could have a material effect on the financial statements. Your responsibilities include informing us of
your knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the government received in
communications from employees, former employees, grantors, regulators, or others. In addition, you are
responsible for identifying and ensuring that the government complies with applicable laws, regulations,
contracts, agreements, and grants and for taking timely and appropriate steps to remedy fraud and
noncompliance with provisions of laws, regulations, or contracts or grant agreements that we report.

You are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information, which we have been engaged
to report on, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP). You agree to include our report on the supplementary information in any document that contains,
and indicates that we have reported on, the supplementary information. You also agree to include the
audited financial statements with any presentation of the supplementary information that includes our
report thereon. Your responsibilities include acknowledging to us in the written representation letter that
(1) you are responsible for presentation of the supplementary information in accordance with GAAP; (2)
you believe the supplementary information, including its form and content, is fairly presented in
accordance with GAAP; (3) the methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those
used in the prior period (or, if they have changed, the reasons for such changes); and (4) you have
disclosed to us any significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation
of the supplementary information.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a process for tracking the status of audit
findings and recommendations. Management is also responsible for identifying and providing report copies
of previous financial audits, attestation engagements, performance audits or other studies related to the
objectives discussed in the Audit Scope and Objectives section of this letter. This responsibility includes
relaying to us corrective actions taken to address significant findings and recommendations resulting from
those audits, attestation engagements, performance audits, or other studies. You are also responsible for



providing management’s views on our current findings, conclusions, and recommendations, as well as your
planned corrective actions, for the report, and for the timing and format for providing that information.

Other Services
Financial Statement Preparation

We will also assist in preparing the financial statements and related notes of the Western Virginia
Regional Industrial Facility Authority in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America based on information provided by you. These nonaudit services do not constitute
an audit under Government Auditing Standards and such services will not be conducted in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards. We will perform the services in accordance with applicable
professional standards. The other services are limited to the financial statement services previously
defined. We, in our sole professional judgment, reserve the right to refuse to perform any procedure or
take any action that could be construed as assuming management responsibilities.

You agree to assume all management responsibilities relating to the financial statements and related
notes and any other nonaudit services we provide. You will be required to acknowledge in the
management representation letter our assistance with preparation of the financial statements and related
notes and that you have reviewed and approved the financial statements and related notes prior to their
issuance and have accepted responsibility for them. Further, you agree to oversee the nonaudit services
by designating an individual, preferably from senior management, with suitable skill, knowledge, or
experience; evaluate the adequacy and results of those services; and accept responsibility for them.

Engagement Administration, Fees, and Other

We understand that your employees will prepare all cash, accounts receivable, or other confirmations we
request and will locate any documents selected by us for testing. We will schedule the engagement based
in part on deadlines, working conditions, and the availability of your key personnel. We will plan the
engagement based on the assumption that your personnel will cooperate and provide assistance by
performing tasks such as preparing requested schedules, retrieving supporting documents, and preparing
confirmations. If, for whatever reason, your personnel are unavailable to provide the necessary assistance
in a timely manner, it may substantially increase the work we have to do to complete the engagement
within the established deadlines, resulting in an increase in fees over our original fee estimate.

As an attest client, Robinson, Farmer, Cox Associates cannot retain your documents on your behalf. This is
in accordance with the ET 1.295.143 of the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. The Western Virginia
Regional Industrial Facility Authority is responsible for maintaining its own data and records.

Robinson, Farmer Cox Associates does not host any of the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility
Authority’s information. ShareFile and Engagement Organizer are used solely as a transferring data and are not
intended to store the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility Authority’s information. Upon conclusion of
the engagement, Robinson, Farmer, Cox Associates will provide the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility
Authority with a copy (in an agreed-upon format) of the deliverables and relevant data related to the
engagement. If the engagement occurs over multiple years, this exchange will occur at least annually.

The data and other content will either be removed from the ShareFile and Engagement Organizer portals or
become unavailable to Robinson, Farmer, Cox Associates within a reasonable period of time as determined by
our internal record retention policy. If the engagement is multi-year, completion of the engagement occurs
each year when the deliverables are completed for that year.

We will provide copies of our reports to the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility Authority;
however, management is responsible for distribution of the reports and the financial statements. Unless
restricted by law or regulation, or containing privileged and confidential information, copies of our
reports are to be made available for public inspection.



The audit documentation for this engagement is the property of Robinson, Farmer, Cox Associates and
constitutes confidential information. However, subject to applicable laws and regulations, audit
documentation and appropriate individuals will be made available upon request and in a timely manner to
the Auditor of Public Accounts or its designee, a federal agency providing direct or indirect funding, or
the U.S. Government Accountability Office for the purposes of a quality review of the audit, to resolve
audit findings, or to carry out oversight responsibilities. We will notify you of any such request. If
requested, access to such audit documentation will be provided under the supervision of Robinson,
Farmer, Cox Associates personnel. Furthermore, upon request, we may provide copies of selected audit
documentation to the aforementioned parties. These parties may intend or decide to distribute the copies
or information contained therein to others, including other governmental agencies.

The audit documentation for this engagement will be retained for a minimum of five years after the
report release date or for any additional period requested by the Auditor of Public Accounts. If we are
aware that a federal awarding agency or auditee is contesting an audit finding, we will contact the
party(ies) contesting the audit finding for guidance prior to destroying the audit documentation.

Diana Epperly, CPA is the engagement director and is responsible for supervising the engagement and
signing the reports or authorizing another individual to sign them. We expect to begin our audit on
approximately August 18, 2025 and to issue our reports no later than October 31, 2025.

Our fee for services will be $9,000. The aforementioned fee is based on anticipated cooperation from
your personnel and the assumption that unexpected circumstances will not be encountered during the
audit. If significant additional time is necessary, we will discuss it with you and arrive at a new fee
estimate before we incur the additional costs.

Reporting

We will issue a written report upon completion of our audit of the Western Virginia Regional Industrial
Facility Authority’s financial statements. Our report will be addressed to the Board of Directors of the
Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility Authority. Circumstances may arise in which our report may
differ from its expected form and content based on the results of our audit. Depending on the nature of
these circumstances, it may be necessary for us to modify our opinions, add a separate section, or add an
emphasis-of-matter or other-matter paragraph to our auditor’s report, or if necessary, withdraw from this
engagement. If our opinions are other than unmodified, we will discuss the reasons with you in advance.
If, for any reason, we are unable to complete the audit or are unable to form or have not formed opinions,
we may decline to express opinions or issue reports, or we may withdraw from this engagement.

We will also provide a report (that does not include an opinion) on internal control related to the
financial statements and compliance with the provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant
agreements, noncompliance with which could have a material effect on the financial statements as
required by Government Auditing Standards. The report on internal control and on compliance and other
matters will state (1) that the purpose of the report is solely to describe the scope of testing of internal
control and compliance, and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control on compliance, and (2) that the report is an integral part of
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s
internal control and compliance. The report will also state that the report is not suitable for any other
purpose. If during our audit we become aware that the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility
Authority is subject to an audit requirement that is not encompassed in the terms of this engagement, we
will communicate to management and those charged with governance that an audit in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted auditing standards and the standards for financial audits contained in
Government Auditing Standards may not satisfy the relevant legal, regulatory, or contractual
requirements.

We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility
Authority and believe this letter accurately summarizes the significant terms of our engagement. If you

10



have any questions, please let us know. If you agree with the terms of our engagement as described in
this letter, please sign the attached copy and return it to us.

Very truly yours,

ROBINSON, FARMER, COX ASSOCIATES

T Diamed Tppata

Diana Epperly
Certified Public Accountant
Director

RESPONSE:

This letter correctly sets forth the understanding of the Western Virginia Regional Industrial Facility
Authority.

Management signature:

Title: _Executive Director

Governance signature:

Title: Board Chair

1"



WESTERN VIRGINIA
REGIONAL INDUSTRIAL FACILITY AUTHORITY

Woodhaven Drainage Improvement Project

Project Description: The purpose of this project is the removal of approximately 1,335 linear feet
of existing drainage channels to prepare the site for additional future grading and development.
The project will include clearing and grubbing operations, earthwork operations, erosion and
sediment control measures, installation of gravel underdrains, storm sewer, and constructions of
a new ditch line consistent with construction plans developed by Balzer & Associates. The
disturbance of the channels has been permitted and mitigated with Virginia DEQ. The project will
also include minor improvements to stormwater basins to satisfy stormwater management
requirements. Per the Invitation to Bid, the deadline to complete this project is set for February
28, 2026.

Procedural Timeline:

 Conditional Approval from Roanoke County

» Public Notice in The Roanoke Times
« |Invitation for Bid posted on WVRIFA website )

~
« Bids due by close of business
/
~
« Bid opening
» Contract consideration by WVRIFA Board* |

*Bid tabulation reflecting amounts from the bid opening will be presented to the Board.
Project Cost: TBD
Funding Source: Virginia Business Read Sites Program grant program

Attachment: Contract for Construction of a Small Project

ADMINISTERED BY:

Roanoke Valley-Alleghany Regional Commission
313 Luck Avenue, SW, Roanoke, VA 24016

info@wvrifa.org / www.wvrifa.org

12


mailto:info@wvrifa.org

This document has important legal consequences; consultation with an attorney is encouraged with
respect to its use or modification. This document should be adapted to the particular circumstances of
the contemplated Project and the controlling Laws and Regulations.

CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION OF A SMALL PROJECT

Prepared by

EJCDC=

ENGINEERS JOINT CONTRACT
DOCUMENTS COMMITTEE

Issued and Published Jointly by

ACEC

AMERICAN CouNCIL OF ENGINEERING COMPANIES

ASCE

AMERICAN SOCIETY OF CIVIL ENGINEERS

National Society of
rofessional Engineerse®

v

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.




Copyright © 2016:

National Society of Professional Engineers
1420 King Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-2794
(703) 684-2882
WWW.NSpe.org

American Council of Engineering Companies
1015 15th Street N.W., Washington, DC 20005
(202) 347-7474
WWW.acec.org

American Society of Civil Engineers
1801 Alexander Bell Drive, Reston, VA 20191-4400
(800) 548-2723
WWW.asce.org

The copyright for this EJCDC document is owned jointly by the three sponsoring organizations listed
above. The National Society of Professional Engineers is the Copyright Administrator for the EJCDC
documents; please direct all inquiries regarding EJCDC copyrights to NSPE.

NOTE: EJCDC publications may be purchased at www.ejcdc.org, or from any of the sponsoring
organizations above.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil fngineers. All rights reserved.



http://www.nspe.org/
http://www.acec.org/
http://www.asce.org/
http://www.ejcdc.org/

Guidelines for Use of EJCDC® C-522,
Contract for Construction of a Small Project

Intended use of C-522 Document

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project, is intended to be used for smaller, less complex
projects, such as small water and wastewater utilities, roads and paving, drainage improvements, and site
development. This Contract is appropriate for projects where:

1. The construction cost is $500,000 or less, the scheduling for the Work is relatively simple with few
constraints, scheduled duration is less than 12 months, and little coordination is required with
entities other than the Engineer, Owner, and Contractor.

2. The change and claims process is relatively simple. If it is anticipated there could be significant
changes to the Work in response to differing site conditions, client requirements, etc., it is
recommended that EJCDC® C-520, Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for Construction
Contract (Stipulated Price) or EJCDC® C-525, Agreement Between Owner and Contractor for
Construction Contract (Cost-Plus) be used, together with the comprehensive EJCDC® C-700, Standard
General Conditions of the Construction Contract.

There is little chance of changed or differing site conditions.

No hazardous environmental conditions are anticipated.

Substitutions for material or equipment will be handled through the Change Order process.

There are no provisions for assignment of an equipment purchase contract entered into by Owner.
The Contract Documents do not delegate any professional design services to the Contractor.

There is little, if any, need for coordination with others working at the Site.

W O N o U A~ W

The Engineer is involved with the review of submittals, interpretation of the documents, and
development of Change Orders that affect the design of the Project.

10. Builder’s risk insurance and/or property insurance will be provided by the Contractor. If the Owner
wants to provide this insurance, the Contract will need to be modified.

Use with other EJCDC Contract Documents

C-522 is intended to be used as a stand-alone document and has not been fully integrated with other
EJCDC Documents. Other EJCDC C-series documents, such as EJCDC® C-200, Suggested Instructions to
Bidders for Construction Contracts, and EJCDC® C-800, Guide to the Preparation of Supplementary
Conditions, are written to be used with C-700 and not C-522. This document is not to be used under any
circumstances with the Design Build (D series) or Procurement (P series) documents.

The EJCDC standard professional services agreements, including EJCDC® E-500, Agreement Between
Owner and Engineer for Professional Services, and EJCDC® E-520 ("Short Form"), may be used in
conjunction with C-522 providing that modifications are made to the scope of services in the Owner-
Engineer Agreement to be consistent with the engineering services contemplated by C-522. Because E-
520 ("Short Form") is intended for use only for professional services of limited scope and complexity,

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.




particular care should be taken in E-520 to define and coordinate the obligations and duties of the Owner
and Engineer relative to the requirements of C-522.

Editing C-522 for use on a Project

It is intended that this document be edited for each Project. Guidelines for editing include:
1. Filling in blank spaces

2. Providing required information as indicated by text in bold and bracketing text. Delete brackets
and unbold text after correct text has been added, e.g. change “[Project Name]” to “Peach Street
Renovation.”

3. Deleting all “Notes to User” after reviewing each note and taking appropriate action.
4. Completing tables.

Project-specific information to be included in this Contract is to be completed by the Owner and/or
Engineer prior to beginning the procurement process. The following is a summary of project-specific
information required to complete this Contract:

Paragraph Project-Specific Information Required

1.01.B.1 | Project description in general terms, including the name of the Project. Example:

“1. Elm Street Water System, which includes 5,000 feet of 12 inch water line, air
release valves, main line valves and other appurtenances.”

1.01.B.2 | Location of the Project. Example:

“2. ..but generally located between the Elm Street Pump Station and proposed site for
a new water tower and the intersection of Smith St and Jones Ave.”

2.02.A.7 | List of exhibits made a part of this Contract.

3.01.A Name of the Engineer.

4.01.A Dates for Contract Times.

4.01.B Number of Calendar Days.

4.02.A Liquidated damages amount.

5.01.A Lump sum Contract Price if Contract is for a lump sum amount.

5.01.B Table of unit prices and estimated quantities used to calculate an estimate of the total of
extended prices.

6.02 Coverage amounts for insurance.

14.03.A | Retainage amount as a percentage of the earned value for Work completed.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil gngineers. All rights reserved.




Paragraph

Project-Specific Information Required

Signatures

Effective Date of the Contract

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Engineers. All rights reserved.




CONTRACT FOR CONSTRUCTION OF A SMALL PROJECT

This Contract is by and between (Owner) and

(Contractor).

Owner and Contractor hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - THE WORK

1.01 Work

A.

Work includes all labor, materials, equipment, services, and documentation necessary to
construct the Project defined herein. The Work may include related services such as testing,
start-up, and commissioning, all as required by the Contract Documents.

The Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents.
The Project is generally described as follows:

1. [Project Name] which includes [short description of the Work].

2. The Site of the Work includes property, easements, and designated work areas
described in greater detail in the Contract Documents but generally located [short
description of the location of the Site].

ARTICLE 2 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

2.01 Intent of Contract Documents

A.

It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project. The
Contract Documents do not indicate or describe all of the Work required to complete the
Project. Additional details required for the correct installation of selected products are to be
provided by the Contractor and coordinated with the Owner and Engineer. This Contract
supersedes prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether written or oral.
The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one part of the Contract
Documents is as binding as if required by other parts of the Contract Documents.

During the performance of the Work and until final payment, Contractor and Owner shall
submit all matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents, or
relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents to the Engineer.
Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents, and
judge of the acceptability of the Work thereunder.

Engineer will render a written clarification, interpretation, or decision on the issue
submitted, or initiate a modification to the Contract Documents.

Contractor, and its subcontractors and suppliers, shall not have or acquire any title to or
ownership rights to any of the Drawings, Specifications, or other documents (including copies
or electronic media editions) prepared by Engineer or its consultants.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginggrs. All rights reserved. Page 1 of 19




2.02  Contract Documents Defined
NOTES TO USER: If any of the items listed are not to be included as Contract Documents, remove such
item from the list and renumber the remaining items as necessary.
A. The Contract Documents consist of the following documents:
This Contract.
Performance bond.

Payment bond.

1
2
3
4. Specifications listed in the Table of Contents.
5. Drawings as listed on the Drawing Sheet Index.

6. Addenda.

7. Exhibits to this Contract (enumerated as follows):
a. [Exhibit 1 — Name of Exhibit].

b. [Exhibit 2 — Name of Exhibit].

8. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the
Contract:

a. Work Change Directives (EJCDC C-940).
b. Change Orders (EJCDC C-941).
c. Field Orders.

ARTICLE 3 - ENGINEER

3.01 Engineer

A. The Engineer for this Project is [Name of engineering firm or entity serving in the role of
Engineer].

ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT TIMES
4.01 Contract Times

NOTES TO USER: Use Paragraph A for contracts with an Owner stipulated date for project completion.
Write in the stipulated dates. Use Paragraph B for contracts for a number of calendar days for
construction. Write in the stipulated number of days where these are stipulated by the Owner or use
the days from the proposal where bidder is allowed to submit a proposed number of calendar days for
completion of the Project. Delete the paragraph not used. Modify the language if working days are
used.

A. The Work will be substantially completed on or before [Date] and completed and ready for
final payment on or before [Date].

B. The Work will be substantially completed within [Number of Days] days after the Effective
Date of the Contract and completed and ready for final payment within [Number of Days]
days after the Effective Date of the Contract.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginggrs. All rights reserved. Page 2 of 19




4.02

4.03

4.04

Liqguidated Damages

A.

Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence in the performance of the
Contract, and that Owner will incur damages if Contractor does not complete the Work
according to the requirements of Paragraph 4.01. Because such damages for delay would be
difficult and costly to determine, Owner and Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for
delay (but not as a penalty) Contractor shall pay Owner S[amount calculated for liquidated
damages] for each day that expires after the Contract Time for substantial completion.

Delays in Contractor’s Progress

A

If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes
with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an
equitable adjustment in the Contract Times and Contract Price. Contractor’s entitlement to
an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to
Contractor’s ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.

Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for
delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor or their
subcontractors or suppliers.

If Contractor’s performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by
unanticipated causes not the fault of and beyond the control of Owner, Contractor, and those
for which they are responsible, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment
in Contract Times.

Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for any
delay, disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or
interference caused by or within the control of Contractor or Contractor’s subcontractors or
suppliers.

Progress Schedules

A.

Contractor shall develop a progress schedule and submit to the Engineer for review and
comment before starting Work on the Site. The Contractor shall modify the schedule in
accordance with the comments provided by the Engineer.

The Contractor shall update and submit the progress schedule to the Engineer each month.
The Owner may withhold payment if the Contractor fails to submit the schedule.

ARTICLE 5 - CONTRACT PRICE

5.01

Payment

NOTES TO USER: Use Paragraph A for lump sum contracts with no unit price items. Use Paragraph B for
unit price contracts. Include any lump sum work in unit price contracts as a single item number with a
unit quantity of 1. Delete the paragraph not used. Verify that prices listed here match those submitted
with the proposal.

A

Owner shall pay Contractor in accordance with the Contract Documents, the lump sum
amount of S[Contract Price] for all Work.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginggrs. All rights reserved. Page 3 of 19




Owner shall pay Contractor in accordance with the Contract Documents at the following unit
prices for each unit of Work completed:

Item Descriotion Unit Estimated Unit Extended
No. P Quantity Price Price
Total of all extended prices for Estimated Quantities of Work S

Payment will be made in an amount equal to the total of all extended prices for actual Work
completed. The extended price is determined by multiplying the unit price times the actual
guantity of that Work item completed. Actual quantities installed will be determined by the
Engineer.

ARTICLE 6 - BONDS AND INSURANCE

NOTES TO USER: Requirements for bonds vary significantly between private and public owners, and
with Laws and Regulations of the Project jurisdiction. Modify Paragraph 6.01 to comply with applicable
Laws and Regulations.

6.01

6.02

Bonds

A.

Before starting Work, Contractor shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond from
surety companies that are duly licensed or authorized to issue bonds in the required amounts
in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located. Each bond shall be in an amount equal to
the Contract Price, as security for the faithful performance and payment of all of Contractor’s
obligations under the Contract. These bonds shall remain in effect until the completion of
the correction period specified in Paragraph 7.12 but, in any case, not less than one year
after the date when final payment becomes due.

Insurance

A.

Before starting Work, Contractor shall furnish evidence of insurance from companies that
are duly licensed or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located with a
minimum AM Best rating of A-VII or better. Contractor shall provide insurance in accordance
with the following:

1. Contractor shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts, or greater
where required by Laws and Regulations:

a. Workers’ Compensation:

State: Statutory

Employer’s Liability:
Bodily Injury, each Accident

Bodily Injury By Disease, each Employee S

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Engingers. All rights reserved. Page 4 of 19




Bodily Injury/Disease Aggregate S

b. Commercial General Liability:

General Aggregate

Products - Completed Operations Aggregate

Personal and Advertising Injury
Each Occurrence (Bodily Injury and Property
Damage) S

c. Automobile Liability herein:

NOTES TO USER: Automobile Liability Insurance may be listed as Bodily Injury and Property Damage or
a Combined Single Limit that covers both. Choose Bodily Injury and Property Damage or a Combined
Single Limit and delete the lines not used.

Bodily Injury:

Each Person

Each Accident

Property Damage:

Each Accident

Combined Single Limit of:

d. Excess or Umbrella Liability:

Per Occurrence

General Aggregate

e. Contractor’s Pollution Liability:

Each Occurrence S

General Aggregate S

B. All insurance policies required to be purchased and maintained will contain a provision or
endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled or materially changed or
renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice has been given to the insured and
additional insured.

C. Automobile liability insurance provided by Contractor shall provide coverage against claims
for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property damage arising out
of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle. The automobile liability policy
shall be written on an occurrence basis.

D. Contractor’'s commercial general liability policy shall be written on a 1996 or later I1SO
commercial general liability occurrence form and include the following coverages and
endorsements:

1. Products and completed operations coverage maintained for three years after final
payment;

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginggrs. All rights reserved. Page 5 of 19




2. Blanket contractual liability coverage to the extent permitted by law;
3. Broad form property damage coverage; and

4. Severability of interest; underground, explosion, and collapse coverage; personal injury
coverage.

The Contractor’'s commercial general liability and automobile liability, umbrella or excess,
and pollution liability policies shall include and list Owner and Engineer and the respective
officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors
of each as additional insureds; and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall
provide primary coverage for all claims covered thereby (including as applicable those arising
from both ongoing and completed operations) on a non-contributory basis.

1. Additional insured endorsements will include both ongoing operations and products
and completed operations coverage through ISO Endorsements CG 20 10 10 01 and CG
20 37 10 01 (together). If Contractor demonstrates to Owner that the specified 1SO
endorsements are not commercially available, then Contractor may satisfy this
requirement by providing equivalent endorsements.

2. Contractor shall provide ISO Endorsement CG 20 32 07 04, “Additional Insured—
Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named Insured” or its equivalent
for design professional additional insureds.

Umbrella or excess liability insurance shall be written over the underlying employer’s liability,
commercial general liability, and automobile liability insurance. Subject to industry-standard
exclusions, the coverage afforded shall be procured on a “follow the form” basis as to each
of the underlying policies. Contractor may demonstrate to Owner that Contractor has met
the combined limits of insurance (underlying policy plus applicable umbrella) specified for
employer’s liability, commercial general liability, and automobile liability through the
primary policies alone, or through combinations of the primary insurance policies and an
umbrella or excess liability policy.

The Contractor shall provide property insurance covering physical loss or damage during
construction to structures, materials, fixtures, and equipment, including those materials,
fixtures, or equipment in storage or transit.

If Contractor has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Owner may exclude the
Contractor from the Site, impose an appropriate set-off against payment, and exercise
Owner’s termination rights under Article 15.

ARTICLE 7 - CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES

7.01  Supervision and Superintendence

A

Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such
attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the
Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely responsible for
the means, methods, techniques, sequences, safety, and procedures of construction.

Contractor shall assign a competent resident superintendent who is to be present at all times
during the execution of the Work. This resident superintendent shall not be replaced without
written notice to and approval by the Owner and Engineer except under extraordinary
circumstances.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Engingers. All rights reserved. Page 6 of 19




7.02

7.03

7.04

7.05

7.06

7.07

C. Contractor shall at all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site.

D. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property
at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents,
all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours, Monday through Friday.

Other Work at the Site

A. In addition to and apart from the Work of the Contractor, other work may occur at or
adjacent to the Site. Contractor shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid
damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor,
or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site.

Services, Materials, and Equipment

A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume
full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction
equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water,
sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for
the performance, testing, start up, and completion of the Work, whether or not such items
are specifically called for in the Contract Documents.

B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be new, of good quality and
shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, used, cleaned, and
conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable supplier, except as otherwise
may be provided in the Contract Documents.

Subcontractors and Suppliers

A. Contractor may retain subcontractors and suppliers for the performance of parts of the
Work. Such subcontractors and suppliers must be acceptable to Owner.

Quality Management

A. Contractor is fully responsible for the managing quality to ensure Work is completed in
accordance with the Contract Documents.

Licenses, Fees and Permits

A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to performing
the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or
device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others.

B. Contractor shall obtain and pay for all construction permits and licenses unless otherwise
provided in the Contract Documents.

Laws and Regulations; Taxes

A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all local, state, and federal
Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise
expressly required by applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be
responsible for monitoring Contractor’s compliance with any Laws or Regulations.

B. Contractor shall bear all resulting costs and losses, and shall indemnify and hold harmless
Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents,
consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs,

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginggrs. All rights reserved. Page 7 of 19




7.08

7.09

7.10

losses, and damages if Contractor performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or
having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations.

Contractor shall pay all applicable sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes Contractor is
required to pay in accordance with Laws and Regulations.

Record Documents

A

Contractor shall maintain one printed record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda,
Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, written interpretations and
clarifications, and approved shop drawings in a safe place at the Site. Contractor shall
annotate them to show changes made during construction. Contractor shall deliver these
record documents to Engineer upon completion of the Work.

Safety and Protection

A.

Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety
precautions and programs in connection with the Work.

Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the
necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to:

1. All persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work;

2. All the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in
storage on or off the Site; and

3. Other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks,
pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and underground
facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of
construction.

All damage, injury, or loss to any property caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part,
by Contractor, or anyone for whose acts the Contractor may be liable, shall be remedied by
Contractor at its expense (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Contract
Documents or to the acts or omissions of Owner or Engineer and not attributable, directly or
indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor).

Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets
or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged
between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations.

In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the
Site or adjacent thereto, Contractor shall act to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss.
Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes that any
significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have been caused
thereby or are required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a change in the
Contract Documents is required because of the action taken by Contractor in response to
such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued.

Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals

A

Contractor shall review and coordinate the shop drawing and samples with the requirements
of the Work and the Contract Documents and shall verify all related field measurements,
guantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, installation requirements,
materials, catalog numbers, and similar information.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginggrs. All rights reserved. Page 8 of 19




7.11

7.12

7.13

H.

Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has satisfied
Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to Contractor’s review
of that submittal, and that Contractor approves the submittal.

With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice, in a
communication separate from the submittal, of any variations that the shop drawing or
sample may have from the requirements of the Contract Documents.

Engineer will provide timely review of shop drawings and samples.

Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences,
or procedures of construction or to safety precautions or programs.

Engineer’s review and approval of a separate item does not indicate approval of the assembly
in which the item functions.

Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required number
of corrected copies of shop drawings and submit, as required, new samples for review and
approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions other than the
corrections called for by Engineer on previous submittals.

Shop drawings are not Contract Documents.

Warranties and Guarantees

A.

Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the
Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members,
partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to rely on
Contractor’s warranty and guarantee.

Correction Period

A.

If within one year after the date of substantial completion, any Work is found to be defective,
or if the repair of any damages to the Site, adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to
use through construction easements or otherwise, and other adjacent areas used by
Contractor as permitted by Laws and Regulations, is found to be defective, then Contractor
shall promptly and without cost to Owner, correct such defective Work.

Indemnification

A.

To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other
obligations of Contractor under the Contract or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and
hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners,
employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against
all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of
engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other
dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided
that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease,
or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself),
including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent caused by any negligent
act or omission of Contractor, any subcontractor, any supplier, or any individual or entity
directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for
whose acts they may be liable.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginggrs. All rights reserved. Page 9 of 19




ARTICLE 8 - OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES

8.01

Owner’s Responsibilities

A.

H.

Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Owner shall issue all
communications to Contractor through Engineer.

Owner shall make payments to Contractor as provided in this Contract.
Owner shall provide Site and easements required to construct the Project.

If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent to
the Site, unless stated elsewhere in the Contract Documents, Owner shall have sole authority
and responsibility for such coordination.

The Owner shall be responsible for performing inspections and tests required by applicable
codes.

The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible
for, Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or
the safety precautions and programs, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws
and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will not be responsible
for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific
applicable requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Owner has been informed.

Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Contractor.

ARTICLE 9 - ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION

9.01

Engineer’s Status

A.

Engineer will be Owner’s representative during construction. The duties and responsibilities
and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s representative during construction
are set forth in this Contract.

Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 9 or under any other
provision of the Contract, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise
or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance
of any authority or responsibility by Engineer, shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in
contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any subcontractor, any supplier,
any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or agent of any of them.

Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of
construction. Engineer will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on
the Site to check the quality or quantity of the Work.

Engineer has the authority to reject Work if Contractor fails to perform Work in accordance
with the Contract Documents.

Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents, and
judge the acceptability of the Work.

Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for
Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginegrs. All rights reserved. Page 10 of 19




safety precautions and programs, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and
Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will not be responsible for
Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 10 - CHANGES IN THE WORK

10.01 Authority to Change the Work

A

Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time
or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work.

10.02 Change Orders

A

Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering:

1. Changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties,
including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in
accordance with a Work Change Directive;

2. Changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner or (b) agreed to by the parties or
(c) resulting from the Engineer’s decision, subject to the need for Engineer’s
recommendation if the change in the Work involves the design (as set forth in the
Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other engineering or technical matters; and

3. Changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times or other changes which embody the
substance of any final binding results under Article 12.

If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting
the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but
not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be
Contractor’s responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect
the effect of any such change.

ARTICLE 11 - DIFFERING SUBSURFACE OR PHYSICAL CONDITIONS

11.01 Differing Conditions Process

A.

If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition including but not limited to
utilities or other underground facilities that are uncovered or revealed at the Site either
differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents or is of an unusual
nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally
recognized as inherent in Work of the character provided for in the Contract Documents then
Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing the
subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith (except
in an emergency), notify Owner and Engineer in writing about such condition. Contractor
shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in connection therewith (except
with respect to an emergency) until receipt of a written statement permitting Contractor to
do so.

After receipt of written notice, Engineer will promptly:

1. Review the subsurface or physical condition in question;

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginegys. All rights reserved. Page 11 of 19




2. Determine necessity for Owner obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect to
the condition;

3. Determine whether the condition falls within the differing site condition as stated
herein;

4. Obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Contractor;

5. Prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the Contractor’s resumption of Work in
connection with the subsurface or physical condition in question and the need for any
change in the Drawings or Specifications; and

6. Advise Owner in writing of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and recommendations.

After receipt of Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall
issue a written statement to Contractor regarding the subsurface or physical condition in
guestion, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such condition, indicating
whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting
Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, in whole or in part.

ARTICLE 12 - CLAIMS AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

12.01 Claims Process

A.

The party submitting a claim shall deliver it directly to the other party to the Contract and
the Engineer promptly (but in no event later than 10 days) after the start of the event giving
rise thereto.

The party receiving a claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full consideration to its merits.
The two parties shall seek to resolve the claim through the exchange of information and
direct negotiations. All actions taken on a claim shall be stated in writing and submitted to
the other party.

If efforts to resolve a claim are not successful, the party receiving the claim may deny it by
giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does not take action
on the claim within 45 days, the claim is deemed denied.

If the dispute is not resolved to the satisfaction of the parties, Owner or Contractor shall give
written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the dispute to a court of competent
jurisdiction unless the Owner and Contractor both agree to an alternative dispute resolution
process.

ARTICLE 13 - TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION OF DEFECTIVE WORK

13.01

Tests and Inspections

A.

Owner and Engineer will have access to the Site and the Work at reasonable times for their
observation, inspection, and testing. Contractor shall provide them proper and safe
conditions for such access.

Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work for all required
inspections and tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and testing personnel to facilitate
required inspections and tests.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginegys. All rights reserved. Page 12 of 19




13.02

C. If any Work that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by Contractor without
written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such
Work for observation. Such uncovering shall be at Contractor’s expense.

Defective Work
A. Contractor shall ensure that the Work is not defective.

B. Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective, and to reject defective
Work.

C. Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will
be given to Contractor.

D. The Contractor shall promptly correct all such defective Work.

E. When correcting defective Work, Contractor shall take no action that would void or
otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty and guarantee, if any, on said Work.

F. If the Work is defective or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable
materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work
will conform to the Contract Documents, then Owner may order Contractor to stop the Work,
or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated.

ARTICLE 14 - PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR

14.01

14.02

14.03

14.04

Progress Payments

A. The Contractor shall prepare a schedule of values that will serve as the basis for progress
payments. The schedule of values will be in a form of application for payment acceptable to
Engineer. The unit price breakdown submitted with the bid will be used for unit price work.
Break lump sum items into units that will allow for measurement of Work in progress.

Applications for Payments:

A. Contractor shall submit an application for payment in a form acceptable to the Engineer, no
more frequently than monthly, to Engineer. Applications for payment will be prepared and
signed by Contractor. Contractor shall provide supporting documentation required by the
Contract Documents. Payment will be paid for Work completed as of the date of the
application for payment.

B. Beginning with the second application for payment, each application shall include an affidavit
of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work
have been applied on account to discharge Contractor’s legitimate obligations associated
with prior applications for payment.

Retainage

A. The Owner shall retain [Percentage of Contract Price to be Held as Retainage] % of each
progress payment until the Work is substantially complete.

Review of Applications

A. Within 10 days after receipt of each application for payment, the Engineer will either indicate
in writing a recommendation for payment and present the application for payment to Owner
or return the application for payment to Contractor indicating in writing Engineer’s reasons

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginegys. All rights reserved. Page 13 of 19




14.05

14.06

14.07

14.08

for refusing to recommend payment. The Contractor will make the necessary corrections and
resubmit the application for payment.

Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) which, in the opinion of the
Engineer, are necessary to protect Owner from loss because the Work is defective and
requires correction or replacement.

The Owner is entitled to impose set-offs against payment based on any claims that have been
made against Owner on account of Contractor’s conduct in the performance of the Work,
incurred costs, losses, or damages on account of Contractor’s conduct in the performance of
the Work, or liquidated damages that have accrued as a result of Contractor’s failure to
complete the Work.

Contractor’s Warranty of Title

A.

Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment
furnished under the Contract will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all liens and other title
defects, and (2) all patent, licensing, copyright, or royalty obligations, no later than seven
days after the time of payment by Owner.

Substantial Completion

A.

The Contractor shall notify Owner and Engineer in writing that the Work is substantially
complete and request the Engineer issue a certificate of substantial completion when
Contractor considers the Work ready for its intended use. Contractor shall at the same time
submit to Owner and Engineer an initial draft of punch list items to be completed or
corrected before final payment.

Engineer will make an inspection of the Work with the Owner and Contractor to determine
the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider the Work substantially complete,
Engineer will notify Contractor and Owner in writing giving the reasons therefor.

If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete or upon resolution of all reasons for
non-issuance of a certificate identified in 14.06.B, Engineer will deliver to Owner a certificate
of substantial completion which shall fix the date of substantial completion and include a
punch list of items to be completed or corrected before final payment.

Final Inspection

A.

Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work is complete, Engineer will
promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and will notify Contractor in
writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work, or agreed portion
thereof, is incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately take such measures as are
necessary to complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies.

Final Payment

A

Contractor may make application for final payment after Contractor has satisfactorily
completed all Work defined in the Contract, including providing all maintenance and
operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other evidence of
insurance, certificates of inspection, annotated record documents and other documents.

The final application for payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by:

1. All documentation called for in the Contract Documents;

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginegrs. All rights reserved. Page 14 of 19




2. Consent of the surety to final payment;

3. Satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all Work,
materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any liens or other title
defects, or will so pass upon final payment;

4. Alist of all disputes that Contractor believes are unsettled; and

5. Complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all lien
rights arising out of the Work, and of liens filed in connection with the Work.

The Work is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is ready for final payment as
established by the Engineer’s written recommendation of final payment.

14.09 Waiver of Claims

A

The making of final payment will not constitute a waiver by Owner of claims or rights against
Contractor.

The acceptance of final payment by Contractor will constitute a waiver by Contractor of all
claims and rights against Owner other than those pending matters that have been duly
submitted.

ARTICLE 15 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION

15.01 Owner May Suspend Work

A.

At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a
period of not more than 60 consecutive days by written notice to Contractor and Engineer.
Such notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the
Work on the date so fixed. Contractor shall be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract Price
or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension.

15.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause

A.

Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents or
other failure to comply with a material term of the Contract Documents will constitute a
default by Contractor and justify termination for cause.

If Contractor defaults in its obligations, then after giving Contractor and any surety ten days
written notice that Owner is considering a declaration that Contractor is in default and
termination of the Contract, Owner may proceed to:

1. Declare Contractor to be in default, and give Contractor and any surety notice that the
Contract is terminated; and

2. Enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond.

Owner may not proceed with termination of the Contract under Paragraph 15.02.B if
Contractor within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct its
failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure.

Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has
terminated the Contract for cause, Owner may exclude Contractor from the Site, take
possession of the Work, incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginegys. All rights reserved. Page 15 of 19




Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and complete
the Work as Owner may deem expedient.

E. In the case of a termination for cause, if the cost to complete the Work, including related
claims, costs, losses, and damages, exceeds the unpaid contract balance, Contractor shall pay
the difference to Owner.

15.03 Owner May Terminate for Convenience

A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor, Owner may, without cause and without
prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such case,
Contractor shall be paid for, without duplication of any items:

1. Completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents
prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for
overhead and profit on such Work;

2. Expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and
furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in
connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and
profit on such expenses; and

3. Other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs incurred
to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal.

B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated overhead, profits, or revenue,
or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination.

15.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate

A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (1) the Work is suspended for more than 90
consecutive days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (2) Owner
fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then Contractor
may, upon seven days written notice to Owner, and provided Owner does not remedy such
suspension or failure within that time, either stop the Work until payment is received, or
terminate the Contract and recover payment from the Owner.

ARTICLE 16 - CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS

16.01 Contractor Representations
A. Contractor makes the following representations when entering into this Contract:

1. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents, and any data
and reference items identified in the Contract Documents.

2. Contractor has visited the Site, conducted a thorough visual examination of the Site and
adjacent areas, and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and
Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.

3. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect
cost, progress, and performance of the Work.

4. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor itself; information
commonly known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information
and observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Site-

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginegys. All rights reserved. Page 16 of 19




related reports and drawings identified in the Contract Documents, with respect to the
effect of such information, observations, and documents on:

a. The cost, progress, and performance of the Work;

b. The means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be
employed by Contractor; and

c. Contractor’s safety precautions and programs.

Based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph,
Contractor agrees that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests,
studies, or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price,
within the Contract Times, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of
the Contract.

Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others
at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents.

Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or
discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the
written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Contractor.

The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding
of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work.

Contractor’s entry into this Contract constitutes an incontrovertible representation by
Contractor that, without exception, all prices in the Contract are premised upon
performing and furnishing the Work required by the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 17 - MISCELLANEOUS

17.01

17.02

17.03

Cumulative Remedies

A.

The duties and obligations imposed by this Contract and the rights and remedies available
hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any way as
a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are otherwise
imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or by other
provisions of the Contract. The provisions of this paragraph will be as effective as if repeated
specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with each particular duty, obligation,
right, and remedy to which they apply.

Limitation of Damages

A. Neither Owner, Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees,
agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs,
losses, or damages sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or
anticipated project.

No Waiver

A. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision,

nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Contract.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.

Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,

and American Society of Civil Enginqgs. All rights reserved. Page 17 of 19




17.04 Survival of Obligations

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or
given in accordance with the Contract, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the
Contract, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or termination
or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor.

17.05 Contractor’s Certifications

A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive
practices in competing for or in executing the Contract.

17.06 Controlling Law

A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginegys. All rights reserved. Page 18 of 19




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and Contractor have signed this Contract.

This Contract will be effective on (which is the Effective Date of the Contract).
OWNER: CONTRACTOR:

By: By:

Title: Title:

Attest:

Title:

Address for giving notices:

(If Contractor is a corporation, a partnership, or a joint
venture, attach evidence of authority to sign.)

Attest:

Title:

Address for giving notices:

(If Owner is a corporation, attach evidence of authority
to sign. If Owner is a public body, attach evidence of
authority to sign and resolution or other documents
authorizing execution of this Contract.)

License No.:

(where applicable)

NOTE TO USER: Use in those states or other
jurisdictions where applicable or required.

EJCDC® C-522, Contract for Construction of a Small Project.
Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies,
and American Society of Civil Enginegys. All rights reserved. Page 19 of 19




	0. Draft July 18, 2025 Board Agenda
	1. Draft Board April 18 2025 Mtes.TW
	1.1Audit Engagement Letter
	2. Overview of Woodhaven Drainage Project_
	2.1 C-522-Contract-for-Construction-of-a-Small-Projecta
	Article 1 - The Work
	1.01 Work
	A. Work includes all labor, materials, equipment, services, and documentation necessary to construct the Project defined herein.  The Work may include related services such as testing, start-up, and commissioning, all as required by the Contract Docum...
	B. The Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The Project is generally described as follows:
	1. [Project Name] which includes [short description of the Work].
	2. The Site of the Work includes property, easements, and designated work areas described in greater detail in the Contract Documents but generally located [short description of the location of the Site].



	Article 2 - Contract Documents
	2.01 Intent of Contract Documents
	A. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project. The Contract Documents do not indicate or describe all of the Work required to complete the Project. Additional details required for the correct installation of...
	B. During the performance of the Work and until final payment, Contractor and Owner shall submit all matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents, or relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents t...
	C. Engineer will render a written clarification, interpretation, or decision on the issue submitted, or initiate a modification to the Contract Documents.
	D. Contractor, and its subcontractors and suppliers, shall not have or acquire any title to or ownership rights to any of the Drawings, Specifications, or other documents (including copies or electronic media editions) prepared by Engineer or its cons...

	2.02 Contract Documents Defined
	A. The Contract Documents consist of the following documents:
	1. This Contract.
	2. Performance bond.
	3. Payment bond.
	4. Specifications listed in the Table of Contents.
	5. Drawings as listed on the Drawing Sheet Index.
	6. Addenda.
	7. Exhibits to this Contract (enumerated as follows):
	a. [Exhibit 1 – Name of Exhibit].
	b. [Exhibit 2 – Name of Exhibit].

	8. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract:
	a. Work Change Directives (EJCDC C-940).
	b. Change Orders (EJCDC C-941).
	c. Field Orders.




	Article 3 - Engineer
	3.01 Engineer
	A. The Engineer for this Project is [Name of engineering firm or entity serving in the role of Engineer].


	Article 4 - Contract Times
	4.01 Contract Times
	A. The Work will be substantially completed on or before [Date] and completed and ready for final payment on or before [Date].
	B. The Work will be substantially completed within [Number of Days] days after the Effective Date of the Contract and completed and ready for final payment within [Number of Days] days after the Effective Date of the Contract.

	4.02 Liquidated Damages
	A. Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence in the performance of the Contract, and that Owner will incur damages if Contractor does not complete the Work according to the requirements of Paragraph 4.01. Because such damages for dela...

	4.03 Delays in Contractor’s Progress
	A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Times and Contract Price. Contra...
	B. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor or their subcontractors or suppliers.
	C. If Contractor’s performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by unanticipated causes not the fault of and beyond the control of Owner, Contractor, and those for which they are responsible, then Contractor shall be entitled to a...
	D. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for any delay, disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor or ...

	4.04 Progress Schedules
	A. Contractor shall develop a progress schedule and submit to the Engineer for review and comment before starting Work on the Site. The Contractor shall modify the schedule in accordance with the comments provided by the Engineer.
	B. The Contractor shall update and submit the progress schedule to the Engineer each month. The Owner may withhold payment if the Contractor fails to submit the schedule.


	Article 5 - Contract Price
	5.01 Payment
	A. Owner shall pay Contractor in accordance with the Contract Documents, the lump sum amount of $[Contract Price] for all Work.
	B. Owner shall pay Contractor in accordance with the Contract Documents at the following unit prices for each unit of Work completed:
	Payment will be made in an amount equal to the total of all extended prices for actual Work completed. The extended price is determined by multiplying the unit price times the actual quantity of that Work item completed. Actual quantities installed wi...


	Article 6 - Bonds and Insurance
	6.01 Bonds
	A. Before starting Work, Contractor shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond from surety companies that are duly licensed or authorized to issue bonds in the required amounts in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located. Each bond sh...

	6.02 Insurance
	A. Before starting Work, Contractor shall furnish evidence of insurance from companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located with a minimum AM Best rating of A-VII or better. Contractor shall provide ...
	1. Contractor shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts, or greater where required by Laws and Regulations:
	a. Workers’ Compensation:
	b. Commercial General Liability:
	c. Automobile Liability herein:
	d. Excess or Umbrella Liability:
	e. Contractor’s Pollution Liability:


	B. All insurance policies required to be purchased and maintained will contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled or materially changed or renewal refused until at least 10 days prior written notice has been giv...
	C. Automobile liability insurance provided by Contractor shall provide coverage against claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle. The a...
	D. Contractor’s commercial general liability policy shall be written on a 1996 or later ISO commercial general liability occurrence form and include the following coverages and endorsements:
	1. Products and completed operations coverage maintained for three years after final payment;
	2. Blanket contractual liability coverage to the extent permitted by law;
	3. Broad form property damage coverage; and
	4. Severability of interest; underground, explosion, and collapse coverage; personal injury coverage.

	E. The Contractor’s commercial general liability and automobile liability, umbrella or excess, and pollution liability policies shall include and list Owner and Engineer and the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, con...
	1. Additional insured endorsements will include both ongoing operations and products and completed operations coverage through ISO Endorsements CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 20 37 10 01 (together). If Contractor demonstrates to Owner that the specified ISO en...
	2. Contractor shall provide ISO Endorsement CG 20 32 07 04, “Additional Insured—Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named Insured” or its equivalent for design professional additional insureds.

	F. Umbrella or excess liability insurance shall be written over the underlying employer’s liability, commercial general liability, and automobile liability insurance. Subject to industry-standard exclusions, the coverage afforded shall be procured on ...
	G. The Contractor shall provide property insurance covering physical loss or damage during construction to structures, materials, fixtures, and equipment, including those materials, fixtures, or equipment in storage or transit.
	H. If Contractor has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Owner may exclude the Contractor from the Site, impose an appropriate set-off against payment, and exercise Owner’s termination rights under Article 15.


	Article 7 - Contractor’s Responsibilities
	7.01 Supervision and Superintendence
	A. Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall b...
	B. Contractor shall assign a competent resident superintendent who is to be present at all times during the execution of the Work. This resident superintendent shall not be replaced without written notice to and approval by the Owner and Engineer exce...
	C. Contractor shall at all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site.
	D. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working h...

	7.02 Other Work at the Site
	A. In addition to and apart from the Work of the Contractor, other work may occur at or adjacent to the Site. Contractor shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any o...

	7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment
	A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light...
	B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be new, of good quality and shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable supplier, ...

	7.04 Subcontractors and Suppliers
	A. Contractor may retain subcontractors and suppliers for the performance of parts of the Work. Such subcontractors and suppliers must be acceptable to Owner.

	7.05 Quality Management
	A. Contractor is fully responsible for the managing quality to ensure Work is completed in accordance with the Contract Documents.

	7.06 Licenses, Fees and Permits
	A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to performing the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held...
	B. Contractor shall obtain and pay for all construction permits and licenses unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents.

	7.07 Laws and Regulations; Taxes
	A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all local, state, and federal Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by applicable Laws and Regulations, neither ...
	B. Contractor shall bear all resulting costs and losses, and shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and agai...
	C. Contractor shall pay all applicable sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes Contractor is required to pay in accordance with Laws and Regulations.

	7.08 Record Documents
	A. Contractor shall maintain one printed record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, written interpretations and clarifications, and approved shop drawings in a safe place at the Site. Con...

	7.09 Safety and Protection
	A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work.
	B. Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to:
	1. All persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work;
	2. All the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the Site; and
	3. Other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and underground facilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the cour...

	C. All damage, injury, or loss to any property caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, or anyone for whose acts the Contractor may be liable, shall be remedied by Contractor at its expense (except damage or loss attributabl...
	D. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or R...
	E. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, Contractor shall act to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss. Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contra...

	7.10 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals
	A. Contractor shall review and coordinate the shop drawing and samples with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents and shall verify all related field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, ins...
	B. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has satisfied Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to Contractor’s review of that submittal, and that Contractor approves the submittal.
	C. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice, in a communication separate from the submittal, of any variations that the shop drawing or sample may have from the requirements of the Contract Documents.
	D. Engineer will provide timely review of shop drawings and samples.
	E. Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety precautions or programs.
	F. Engineer’s review and approval of a separate item does not indicate approval of the assembly in which the item functions.
	G. Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required number of corrected copies of shop drawings and submit, as required, new samples for review and approval. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to ...
	H. Shop drawings are not Contract Documents.

	7.11 Warranties and Guarantees
	A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall...

	7.12 Correction Period
	A. If within one year after the date of substantial completion, any Work is found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the Site, adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other a...

	7.13 Indemnification
	A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other obligations of Contractor under the Contract or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, ...


	Article 8 - Owner’s Responsibilities
	8.01 Owner’s Responsibilities
	A. Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Owner shall issue all communications to Contractor through Engineer.
	B. Owner shall make payments to Contractor as provided in this Contract.
	C. Owner shall provide Site and easements required to construct the Project.
	D. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent to the Site, unless stated elsewhere in the Contract Documents, Owner shall have sole authority and responsibility for such coordination.
	E. The Owner shall be responsible for performing inspections and tests required by applicable codes.
	F. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible for, Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs, or for any failure of Contr...
	G. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific applicable requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Owner has been informed.
	H. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Contractor.


	Article 9 - Engineer’s Status During Construction
	9.01 Engineer’s Status
	A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative during construction. The duties and responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s representative during construction are set forth in this Contract.
	B. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 9 or under any other provision of the Contract, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking...
	C. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction. Engineer will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or quantity of the Work.
	D. Engineer has the authority to reject Work if Contractor fails to perform Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
	E. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents, and judge the acceptability of the Work.
	F. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs, or for any failure of Contractor t...


	Article 10 - Changes in the Work
	10.01 Authority to Change the Work
	A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work.

	10.02 Change Orders
	A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering:
	1. Changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with a Work Change Directive;
	2. Changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner or (b) agreed to by the parties or (c) resulting from the Engineer’s decision, subject to the need for Engineer’s recommendation if the change in the Work involves the design (as set forth in the ...
	3. Changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times or other changes which embody the substance of any final binding results under Article 12.

	B. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of ...


	Article 11 - Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions
	11.01 Differing Conditions Process
	A. If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition including but not limited to utilities or other underground facilities that are uncovered or revealed at the Site either differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contrac...
	B. After receipt of written notice, Engineer will promptly:
	1. Review the subsurface or physical condition in question;
	2. Determine necessity for Owner obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect to the condition;
	3. Determine whether the condition falls within the differing site condition as stated herein;
	4. Obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Contractor;
	5. Prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the Contractor’s resumption of Work in connection with the subsurface or physical condition in question and the need for any change in the Drawings or Specifications; and
	6. Advise Owner in writing of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and recommendations.

	C. After receipt of Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement to Contractor regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with suc...


	Article 12 - Claims and Dispute Resolution
	12.01 Claims Process
	A. The party submitting a claim shall deliver it directly to the other party to the Contract and the Engineer promptly (but in no event later than 10 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto.
	B. The party receiving a claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full consideration to its merits. The two parties shall seek to resolve the claim through the exchange of information and direct negotiations. All actions taken on a claim shall be stat...
	C. If efforts to resolve a claim are not successful, the party receiving the claim may deny it by giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does not take action on the claim within 45 days, the claim is deemed denied.
	D. If the dispute is not resolved to the satisfaction of the parties, Owner or Contractor shall give written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the dispute to a court of competent jurisdiction unless the Owner and Contractor both agree ...


	Article 13 - Tests and Inspections; Correction of Defective Work
	13.01 Tests and Inspections
	A. Owner and Engineer will have access to the Site and the Work at reasonable times for their observation, inspection, and testing. Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access.
	B. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work for all required inspections and tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and testing personnel to facilitate required inspections and tests.
	C. If any Work that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for observation. Such uncovering shall be at Contractor’s expense.

	13.02 Defective Work
	A. Contractor shall ensure that the Work is not defective.
	B. Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective, and to reject defective Work.
	C. Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be given to Contractor.
	D. The Contractor shall promptly correct all such defective Work.
	E. When correcting defective Work, Contractor shall take no action that would void or otherwise impair Owner’s special warranty and guarantee, if any, on said Work.
	F. If the Work is defective or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will conform to the Contract Documents, then Owner may order Co...


	Article 14 - Payments to Contractor
	14.01 Progress Payments
	A. The Contractor shall prepare a schedule of values that will serve as the basis for progress payments. The schedule of values will be in a form of application for payment acceptable to Engineer. The unit price breakdown submitted with the bid will b...

	14.02 Applications for Payments:
	A. Contractor shall submit an application for payment in a form acceptable to the Engineer, no more frequently than monthly, to Engineer. Applications for payment will be prepared and signed by Contractor. Contractor shall provide supporting documenta...
	B. Beginning with the second application for payment, each application shall include an affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor’s legitima...

	14.03 Retainage
	A. The Owner shall retain [Percentage of Contract Price to be Held as Retainage] % of each progress payment until the Work is substantially complete.

	14.04 Review of Applications
	A. Within 10 days after receipt of each application for payment, the Engineer will either indicate in writing a recommendation for payment and present the application for payment to Owner or return the application for payment to Contractor indicating ...
	B. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) which, in the opinion of the Engineer, are necessary to protect Owner from loss because the Work is defective and requires correction or replacement.
	C. The Owner is entitled to impose set-offs against payment based on any claims that have been made against Owner on account of Contractor’s conduct in the performance of the Work, incurred costs, losses, or damages on account of Contractor’s conduct ...

	14.05 Contractor’s Warranty of Title
	A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment furnished under the Contract will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all liens and other title defects, and (2) all patent, licensing, copyright, or royalty obliga...

	14.06 Substantial Completion
	A. The Contractor shall notify Owner and Engineer in writing that the Work is substantially complete and request the Engineer issue a certificate of substantial completion when Contractor considers the Work ready for its intended use. Contractor shall...
	B. Engineer will make an inspection of the Work with the Owner and Contractor to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor and Owner in writing giving the reasons...
	C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete or upon resolution of all reasons for non-issuance of a certificate identified in 14.06.B, Engineer will deliver to Owner a certificate of substantial completion which shall fix the date of subs...

	14.07 Final Inspection
	A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work is complete, Engineer will promptly make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor and will notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work, ...

	14.08 Final Payment
	A. Contractor may make application for final payment after Contractor has satisfactorily completed all Work defined in the Contract, including providing all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other ev...
	B. The final application for payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by:
	1. All documentation called for in the Contract Documents;
	2. Consent of the surety to final payment;
	3. Satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all Work, materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any liens or other title defects, or will so pass upon final payment;
	4. A list of all disputes that Contractor believes are unsettled; and
	5. Complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all lien rights arising out of the Work, and of liens filed in connection with the Work.

	C. The Work is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is ready for final payment as established by the Engineer’s written recommendation of final payment.

	14.09 Waiver of Claims
	A. The making of final payment will not constitute a waiver by Owner of claims or rights against Contractor.
	B. The acceptance of final payment by Contractor will constitute a waiver by Contractor of all claims and rights against Owner other than those pending matters that have been duly submitted.


	Article 15 - Suspension of Work and Termination
	15.01 Owner May Suspend Work
	A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of not more than 60 consecutive days by written notice to Contractor and Engineer. Such notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor...

	15.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause
	A. Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents or other failure to comply with a material term of the Contract Documents will constitute a default by Contractor and justify termination for cause.
	B. If Contractor defaults in its obligations, then after giving Contractor and any surety ten days written notice that Owner is considering a declaration that Contractor is in default and termination of the Contract, Owner may proceed to:
	1. Declare Contractor to be in default, and give Contractor and any surety notice that the Contract is terminated; and
	2. Enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond.

	C. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Contract under Paragraph 15.02.B if Contractor within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure.
	D. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has terminated the Contract for cause, Owner may exclude Contractor from the Site, take possession of the Work, incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stor...
	E. In the case of a termination for cause, if the cost to complete the Work, including related claims, costs, losses, and damages, exceeds the unpaid contract balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner.

	15.03 Owner May Terminate for Convenience
	A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor, Owner may, without cause and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such case, Contractor shall be paid for, without duplication of any items:
	1. Completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such Work;
	2. Expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead...
	3. Other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs incurred to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal.

	B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated overhead, profits, or revenue, or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination.

	15.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate
	A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (1) the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive days by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (2) Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be ...


	Article 16 - Contractor’s Representations
	16.01 Contractor Representations
	A. Contractor makes the following representations when entering into this Contract:
	1. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents, and any data and reference items identified in the Contract Documents.
	2. Contractor has visited the Site, conducted a thorough visual examination of the Site and adjacent areas, and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the ...
	3. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
	4. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor itself; information commonly known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Contract Documents; and t...
	a. The cost, progress, and performance of the Work;
	b. The means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor; and
	c. Contractor’s safety precautions and programs.

	5. Based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, Contractor agrees that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Pr...
	6. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents.
	7. Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Engineer is acceptable to Contractor.
	8. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work.
	9. Contractor’s entry into this Contract constitutes an incontrovertible representation by Contractor that, without exception, all prices in the Contract are premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the Contract Documents.



	Article 17 - Miscellaneous
	17.01 Cumulative Remedies
	A. The duties and obligations imposed by this Contract and the rights and remedies available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all...

	17.02 Limitation of Damages
	A. Neither Owner, Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages sustained by Contractor on or in connection...

	17.03 No Waiver
	A. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Contract.

	17.04 Survival of Obligations
	A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given in accordance with the Contract, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the Contract, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptanc...

	17.05 Contractor’s Certifications
	A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing for or in executing the Contract.

	17.06 Controlling Law
	A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located.






